Case No. 46149-8-II

---

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION TWO OF THE STATE  
OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON  
Plaintiff/Respondent,

vs.

APRIL HANCOCK,  
Defendant/Appellant.

---

Appeal from the Superior Court of Mason County

Superior Court Case No. 12-1-00520-6  
District Court Case No. 2Z327384

---

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

---

Eugene C. Austin  
Attorney for the Appellant  
WSBA #31129  
PO Box 1753  
Belfair, WA 98528  
(360) 551-0782

BY \_\_\_\_\_  
DEPUTY  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
2014 NOV 12 PM 1:07

FILED  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION II

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The District Court erred when it ruled that although RCW 46.20.005 is a lesser included offence of RCW 46.20.342(1), the element of operating a vehicle on a highway is not element of RCW 46.20.342(1).
  - a. The lower court erred when it found that a privately owned and maintained parking lot was a "publicly maintained" highway.
2. The lower courts erred in misapplying the rules of statutory construction when they only looked at the wording of RCW 46.20.342(1), failed to consider legislative intent, and give effect to conflicting statutes.
3. The Superior Court erred in denying Defendant's appeal when it found that RCW 46.20.005 was an inferior degree offense of RCW 46.20.342(1) rather than a lesser included offense as described in the statute by the legislature.
4. There is insufficient evidence to support a conviction under RCW 16.20.342(1) beyond a reasonable doubt.
5. The lower courts erred in disallowing jury instructions for DWLS that contained the element of driving on a highway.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. RCW 46.20.005 Driving Without a License (DWOL) is a "lesser included offense" within RCW 46.20.342(1) Driving While License Suspended or Revoked (DWLS). Can RCW 46.20.005 define itself as a "lesser included offense" within RCW 46.20.342(1)?
2. The rules of statutory construction require the court to give effect to legislative intent. This requires a court to look beyond the language of one statute where another statute purports to modify the first and potential conflicts arise. The court should look at the legislative scheme, similar statutes, legislative intent and history. Do the rules of statutory construction require a court to give effect to legislative intent by giving full effect to two potentially conflicting statutes if possible?
3. RCW 46.20.005 is defined by statute as a "lesser included offense" within RCW 46.20.342(1). It is not an "inferior degree offense." When the tests for "lesser included offense" and "inferior degree offense" are applied as they have been established RCW

1 46.20.005, as enacted, can only function as a "lesser included  
2 offense." Is DWOL a "lesser included offense" or a "inferior  
3 degree offense" with DWLS?

4 4. The State bears the burden of proving each element of the charged  
5 crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Because RCW 46.20.005 is a  
6 "lesser included offense" within DWLS all of its elements must be  
7 part of the greater offense, including driving on a highway. The  
8 State did not put on any evidence to show that Ms. Hancock drove  
9 on any public road, and therefore failed to prove the essential  
10 element of driving on a public highway. Did the State fail to prove  
11 DWLS?

12 5. The jury instructions were misleading in that they did not list  
13 driving on a highway as an element of the charged crime and,  
14 therefore, did not list all essential elements That the State was  
15 required to prove. This prejudiced the Defendant's case and  
16 requires dismissal or remand for a new trial. Should Jury  
17 instructions for DWLS contain the element of driving on a  
18 highway when that is an issue at trial?

19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

25 On April 3, 2012, April Hancock asked a friend, Chris Griner, to  
26 use her car to drive her to a doctor's appointment because she had a  
27 suspended license. While on the way, they decided to stop at Deer Creek  
28 Store on Highway 3 and parked in the private parking lot next to the store  
29 (it is not physically possible to park on the shoulder of Highway 3 at this  
30 location). Both April Hancock and her friend entered the store and made  
31 purchases. April Hancock completed her purchases first and waited  
32 outside by the car. When Mr. Griner exited the store, he asked April  
33 Hancock to move the car to the gas pumps so he could fill the tank. VRP  
34 at 41-42. April Hancock complied and backed the car over to the pumps.



1           During the time Ms. Hancock was at the store, Deputy Christopher  
2 T. Gaynor of the Mason County Sheriff's Department was travelling south  
3 bound on SR 3. While passing Deer Creek Store, he observed a white  
4 vehicle with the defendant, April Hancock, standing near it, in the  
5 privately owned and maintained parking lot owned by the store. Deputy  
6 Gaynor testified that he recognized the car and Ms. Hancock from a  
7 previous contact. RP at 11 - 12. After running the plates and verifying that  
8 Ms. Hancock had a suspended license, Deputy Gaynor returned to the  
9 store parking lot and observed the vehicle had moved approximately 20  
10 feet and was backing up to the gas pumps. Deputy Gaynor pulled up  
11 behind the vehicle and activated his lights at which point Ms. Hancock  
12 exited the driver side door, and a male passenger got out of the passenger  
13 side door. At no time did the deputy or any other witness observe Ms.  
14 Hancock operating the vehicle on a public road.

15           The deputy obtained the identification of both Ms. Hancock and  
16 the passenger and determined that Ms. Hancock's license was suspended  
17 in the 1st degree, and the passenger was suspended in the 3rd degree (the  
18 passenger reported being unaware of his suspension). Deputy Gaynor  
19 issued Ms. Hancock a citation, told the passenger that he could not drive  
20 and directed him to park the car in one of the parking lot's parking spaces.

21  
22  
23  
24

1 Ms. Hancock was charged with a violation of RCW 46.20.342.1A  
2 DWLS 1st Degree. Prior to trial, the defense filed a motion to dismiss  
3 based upon the fact that RCW 46.20.005 "is a lesser included offense  
4 within the offenses described in RCW 46.20.342(1)," making operation of  
5 an vehicle upon a public highway an element of the alleged crime; and the  
6 fact that Ms. Hancock did not drive upon a public highway. Motion and  
7 Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss, July 27, 2012. This  
8 motion was denied orally by the trial court and findings of fact and  
9 conclusions of law were signed later. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of  
10 Law, August 31, 2012.

11 A jury trial was held in the Mason County District Court on  
12 October 26, 2012. The prosecution called two witnesses, Deputy Gaynor  
13 and Julie Burrow from the DOL. Deputy Gaynor testified regarding the  
14 traffic stop as described above. Ms. Borrow testified that Ms. Hancock  
15 was suspended in the 1st degree, but because there were some  
16 irregularities in the documentation presented at trial, the court reserved  
17 ruling on the validity of the suspension order. RP at 53. The defense called  
18 one witness, Chris Griner, the passenger mentioned above.

19 At the end of the trial, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on the  
20 charge of DWLS 1st Degree, from which Ms. Hancock made a RALJ  
21 appeal to the Superior Court. The Superior Court denied the appeal,  
22

1 finding that RCW 46.20.005 was an inferior offense to RCW 46.20.342(1)  
2 rather than a lesser included offense, and does not require proof of driving  
3 on a public highway. Memorandum Opinion and Order Affirming  
4 Conviction, dated April 14, 2014. The Superior Court also found that the  
5 "[s]tatutory rules of construction require the court to give statutory  
6 language its plain meaning," and because "highway" had been removed  
7 from RCW 46.20.342(1), it was not an element of the crime. *Id.* Ms.  
8 Hancock appeals.

1 ARGUMENTS

2 I. RCW 46.20.005 DWOL defines itself as a lesser included  
3 offense within RCW 46.20.342(1) DWLS that does not apply  
4 to private parking lots.

5 On April 3, 2012, April Hancock was charged with driving while  
6 her license was suspended in the 1st degree pursuant to RCW  
7 46.20.342(1). That section reads in pertinent part as follows:

8 (1) It is unlawful for any person to drive a motor vehicle in this  
9 state while that person is in a suspended or revoked status or  
10 when his or her privilege to drive is suspended or revoked in  
11 this or any other state. Any person who has a valid Washington  
12 driver's license is not guilty of a violation of this section.

13 (a) A person found to be a habitual offender under chapter  
14 46.65 RCW, who violates this section while an order of  
15 revocation issued under chapter 46.65 RCW prohibiting  
16 such operation is in effect, is guilty of driving while license  
17 suspended or revoked in the first degree, a gross  
18 misdemeanor... *(The remainder of this section deals with  
19 sentences and reinstatement.)*

20 RCW 46.20.342.1(a). However, RCW 46.20.342 cannot be read as a  
21 standalone statute and does not include all necessary elements of the  
22 crime. This is because another section is, as a matter of law, a lesser  
23 included offence. RCW 46.20.005 states:

24 Driving without a license — Misdemeanor, when.

Except as expressly exempted by this chapter, it is a misdemeanor  
for a person to drive any motor vehicle upon a highway in this  
state without a valid driver's license issued to Washington residents  
under this chapter. This section does not apply if at the time of the  
stop the person is not in violation of RCW 46.20.342(1) or  
\*46.20.420 and has in his or her possession an expired driver's  
license or other valid identifying documentation under RCW

1           46.20.035. A violation of this section is a lesser included offense  
2           within the offenses described in RCW 46.20.342(1) or \*46.20.420.

3 (Emphasis added.) The legislature has made a specific and extremely clear  
4 determination that RCW 46.20.005 "is a lesser included offense" for the  
5 purposes of RCW 46.20.342(1), the very section with which April  
6 Hancock was charged. This means that all elements of RCW 46.20.005  
7 must be included in the greater offense, RCW 46.20.342(1), including the  
8 element of driving "upon a highway."

9           In Washington, as in all other states, a lesser included offense is  
10 one where all of the elements of the lesser offense are also elements of the  
11 greater offense. *State v. Allen*, 116 Wn.App. 454, 463, 66 P.3d 653  
12 (Wash.App. Div. 3 2003); *State v. Aumick*, 126 Wn.2d 422, 426, 894 P.2d  
13 1325 (Wash. 1995); *State v. Berlin*, 133 Wash.2d 541, 545 - 546, 548,  
14 550, 947 P.2d 700 (Wash. 1997); *State v. Walden*, 67 Wn.App. 891, 893,  
15 841 P.2d 81 (Wash.App. Div. 1 1992); *State v. Workman*, 90 Wn.2d 443,  
16 447 - 448, 584 P.2d 382 (Wash. 1978) . If all the elements of a crime are  
17 not elements of what is alleged to be a greater crime, then it cannot be a  
18 lesser offense, because it would be possible to commit the greater offense  
19 without committing the lesser offense. *State v. Allen*, at 464; *State v.*  
20 *Aumick*, at 428; *State v. Walden*, at 893. Because the legislature in  
21 enacting RCW 46.20.005 specifically, made that section "a lesser included

1 offense within the offenses described in RCW 46.20.342(1)," it  
2 necessarily follows that all the elements of RCW 46.20.005 are also  
3 elements of RCW 46.20.342(1). In this case, because the lower courts  
4 erred in finding that the elements of the lesser included offense were not  
5 elements of the greater offense; a key element was left out of the jury  
6 instructions provided to the jury. Further, the element was definitely not  
7 proven at trial. The missing element is that the defendant must be proven  
8 to have driven a "motor vehicle upon a highway". RCW 46.20.005.

9         The trial court relied on *State v. Day*, 96 Wn.2d 646, 638 P.2d 546  
10 (1981) to rule that RCW 46.20.342(1) applied to private parking lots,  
11 believing that the issue is whether the parking lot was intended for public  
12 use rather than publicly maintained. However, that would only be an issue  
13 if another statute, other than RCW 46.20.342, were at issue, such as the  
14 city codes discussed in *City of Seattle v. Tolliver*, 641 P.2d 719, 31  
15 Wn.App. 299 (Wash.App. Div. 1 1982) and *City of Seattle v. Wright*, 433  
16 P.2d 906, 72 Wn.2d 556 (Wash. 1967). Further, *State v. Day*, deals with  
17 RCW 46.61.506, which is made applicable "upon highways and elsewhere  
18 throughout the state" by RCW 46.61.005(2). RCW 46.61.005 limits  
19 enforcement of provisions relating to the operation of motor vehicles  
20 exclusively public highways, and RCW 46.20.342 is not one of the  
21 exceptions listed in RCW 46.61.005(2).

1           The District Court believed that *Day* could be distinguished, which  
2 is true but not in the way the court thought. In *State v. Day*, the Court  
3 addressed the issue of whether RCW 46.61.506 applied on private  
4 property anywhere in the State. The defendant was charged with RCW  
5 46.61.506 (now RCW 46.61.502), driving under the influence. The acts  
6 occurred while on private property, far from any property open to the  
7 public. Like RCW 46.20.342(1), there is another statute that played a role  
8 in interpreting the elements of RCW 46.61.506. However, this was not a  
9 statute that is a lesser included offense, rather it was RCW 46.61.005 that  
10 established "exceptions" to the rule that the "*provisions of this chapter*  
11 *relating to the operation of vehicles refer exclusively to the operation of*  
12 *vehicles upon highways*" (Emphasis added). RCW 46.61.005(2) states  
13 that the provisions RCW 46.61.506 "shall apply upon highways and  
14 elsewhere throughout the state." This language made RCW 46.61.506  
15 applicable everywhere in the state. Even so, the court still looked at the  
16 statutory scheme to protect the public and found that it would be  
17 unreasonable to allow the "exercise of police power to extend the  
18 prohibition to petitioner's conduct," where the conduct was on private  
19 property and posed no threat to the public. *State v. Day*, at 649. Although  
20 the case is not directly on point, it still supports the defendant's position  
21 and not the State's. First, unlike the present case, in *State v. Day*, there was

22

23

24

1 specific language extending statutory application of RCW 46.61.506  
2 beyond public highways. Second, even with this extended application  
3 beyond highways, the court looked at the statutory scheme and found that  
4 the statute did not apply.

5       When Washington courts have found private parking lots to be  
6 covered by a State statute such as RCW 46.20.342(1) it has been because a  
7 local statute exists that makes the State statute applicable. In *City of*  
8 *Seattle v. Tolliver*, 31 Wn.App. 299, 641 P.2d 719, 721 (Div 11992) the  
9 court upheld the defendant's conviction for DUI and DWLS in a privately  
10 owned paved parking lot because the Seattle Traffic Code was "applicable  
11 to "all persons operating vehicles upon the streets, alleys and ways open to  
12 the public of the city of Seattle except as otherwise specifically provided."  
13 *City of Seattle v. Tolliver*, at 301. Similarly, *City of Seattle v. Wright*, was  
14 also decided based upon the city traffic code. In *Wright*, the Court noted  
15 that the "state statute does not regulate vehicular traffic on private  
16 roadways not publicly maintained which have been opened to public use".  
17 *City of Seattle v. Wright*, at 560. However, cities have the power to make  
18 regulations pertaining to public safety that go beyond what State statutes  
19 provide. *Id.*, at 558. *City of Seattle v. Tolliver* does not control here  
20 because only state statutes apply to the current case, and these "exclude



1 private property from the classification of 'public highway'". *City of*  
2 *Seattle v. Wright*, at 559.

3 *II. Statutory Construction requires the court to resolve*  
4 *conflicting statutes so as to give effect to both.*

5 The State argued in the Superior Court that because the legislature  
6 removed the public highway requirement from RCW 46.20.342(1),  
7 statutory construction allowed the court to conclude that the legislature  
8 intended to remove the "highway" requirement altogether, despite any  
9 other provisions. However, this over simplifies statutory construction as  
10 the courts will look at related statutes and other items to determine the  
11 intent of the legislature. *State v. J.P.*, 69 P.3d 318, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450  
12 (Wash. 2003). The courts do this to ensure the intent of the legislature is  
13 implemented. "The rules of statutory construction require that a court  
14 confronted with conflicting statutes should, when possible, reconcile them  
15 and give effect to each provision." *Elford v. City of Battle Ground*, 941  
16 P.2d 678, 87 Wn.App. 229, 234 (Wash.App. Div. 2 1997), citing *King v.*  
17 *Department of Social and Health Servs.*, 110 Wash.2d 793, 799, 756 P.2d  
18 1303 (1988). Although, RCW 46.20.342(1) does not contain the word  
19 "highway," RCW 46.20.005 does and it also clearly states that it "is a  
20 lesser included offense within the offenses described in  
21 RCW 46.20.342(1)." Because the definition of "lesser included offense"

1 requires that all of the elements of the lesser be included within the  
2 greater, RCW 46.20.005 demands that "highway" be an element of  
3 RCW 46.20.342(1). The State's argument that "highway" was removed  
4 from RCW 46.20.342(1), at best, simply demonstrates that there is a  
5 conflict between the two statutes, which needs to be resolved.

6       However, the mere fact that the public highway requirement was  
7 removed from RCW 46.20.342 does not mean that the intent was to delete  
8 the element from DWLS offenses. This is because other interpretations are  
9 available. RCW 46.20.005 states that it is a lesser included offense for two  
10 sections, RCW 46.20.342(1) and RCW 46.20.020 (renumbered as RCW  
11 46.20.345). Both of these sections relate to DWLS violations. Both  
12 originally contained the language relating to driving on a public highway.  
13 1967 Wash. Laws c 167 § 7; 1961 Wash. Laws c 134 § 1. And both had  
14 the language deleted. 1990 Wash. Laws c 210 § 5; 1967 Wash. Laws c 32  
15 § 35. If RCW 46.20.005 is a lesser included offense, then the term  
16 "highway" is unnecessary to include the word in RCW 46.20.342(1). Even  
17 so, the confusion created by the deletion of "highway" exists only because  
18 we have forgotten the circumstances surrounding the history of RCW  
19 46.20.342(1) and RCW 46.20.005 over the past 35 plus years. Further, if  
20 we examine the legislative history of RCW 46.20.342(1), we find that  
21 DWOL was a "lesser included offense within DWLS prior to the deletion

1 of "highway" from RCW 46.20.342(1) in 1990, it was originally included  
2 in RCW 46.20.342(1). 1979 Wash. Laws ch 136 § 62. The "lesser  
3 included offense" language was not deleted from the law, only moved to a  
4 better location. DWOL has continued to be a "lesser included offense"  
5 within DWLS under Washington law, without interruption, since 1979.  
6 The legislature intended this result and the legislature understood the  
7 meaning of the term "lesser included offense" and the results that arise  
8 from that legal definition.

9       The court should give deference to the clear language of a statute  
10 in determining its intent. *State v. J.P.*, 69 P.3d 318, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450  
11 (Wash. 2003). However, it must also do the same for other enactments of  
12 the legislature such as RCW 46.20.005. Further, the primary duty of the  
13 court is to "discern and implement the intent of the legislature." *Id.* This  
14 cannot be done without an understanding of the legislative history of the  
15 statutes involved and a consideration of related statutes.

16               1. *Legislative history of RCW 46.20.342(1) and RCW*  
17               *46.20.005 demonstrates that the legislative intent is and the*  
18               *law has always been that DWOL is a "lesser included*  
                  *offense" and driving on a highway is an element of DWLS*

19       RCW 46.20.005 was created in 1997, but its history goes back  
20 much further and is closely intertwined with RCW 46.20.342(1). Prior to  
21 1985, RCW 46.20.342(1) contained not only the "public highway"  
22  
23

1 requirement,<sup>1</sup> but also a statement that "the offences described in RCW  
2 46.20.021 and 46.20.190, as now or hereafter amended, are lesser  
3 included offenses within the offense described by this section." 1979  
4 Wash. Laws ch 136 § 62. After this language was added to RCW  
5 46.20.342(1) in 1979 the statute read as follows:

6 Any person who drives a motor vehicle on any public  
7 highway of this state at a time when his privilege so to do is  
8 suspended or revoked or when his policy of insurance or  
9 bond, when required under this chapter, shall have been  
10 canceled or terminated, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor:  
11 **PROVIDED, That the offenses described in RCW**  
12 **46.20.021 and 46.20.190, as now or hereafter amended,**  
13 **are lesser included offenses within the offense described**  
14 **by this section.** Upon the first conviction therefor, he shall  
be punished by imprisonment for not less than ten days nor  
more than six months. Upon the second such conviction  
therefor, he shall be punished by imprisonment for not less  
than ninety days nor more than one year. Upon the third  
such conviction therefor, he shall be punished by  
imprisonment for one year. There may also be imposed in  
connection with each such conviction a fine of not more  
than five hundred dollars.

15 *Id.* (emphasis added). At that time, RCW 46.20.021 was the statute that  
16 prohibited operation of a motor vehicle upon a highway without a valid  
17 driver's license. In 1985, these statutes were modified to remove the  
18 "lesser included" language from RCW 46.20.342(1) and put it in RCW  
19 46.20.021. *See*, 1985 Wash. Laws ch. 302 §§ 2 and 3. RCW 46.20.021(1)  
20 was modified to read as follows:

21 <sup>1</sup> RCW 46.20.342(1) was first enacted in 1965 and included the "highway" requirement.  
22 *See*. 1965 Wash. Laws ch 121 § 43.

1 No person, except as expressly exempted by this chapter,  
2 may drive any motor vehicle upon a highway in this state  
3 unless the person has a valid driver's license issued under  
4 the provisions of this chapter. ***A violation of this  
subsection is a misdemeanor and is a lesser included  
offense within the offenses described in RCW  
46.20.342(1), 46.20.416, 46.20.420, and 46.65.090.***

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