COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V.

APRIL HANCOCK, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Mason County State of Washington The Honorable Judge Amber L. Finlay

No. 12-1-00520-6

On review of Mason County District Court No. 2Z327384 The Honorable Judge Victoria Meadows

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MICHAEL DORCY Mason County Prosecuting Attorney

By
TIM HIGGS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #25919

521 N. Fourth Street PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 PH: (360) 427-9670 ext. 417

A. INTRODUCTION

The Appellant, April Hancock, was convicted by a Mason County District Court jury for the offense of driving with a revoked license in the first degree in violation of RCW 46.20.342(1). Hancock was cited with the offense after an officer saw her driving on the lot of a convenience store gas station. The officer did not see Hancock drive anywhere other than on the convenience store gas station lot. There is no dispute as to whether Hancock's license was revoked at the time of driving.

In the district court, Hancock contended that because RCW 46.20.005 describes itself as a lesser included offense to RCW 46.20.342, to obtain a conviction for violation of RCW 46.20.342(1), the State was required to prove the elements of RCW 46.20.005 in addition to the elements of RCW 46.20.342(1). RCW 46.20.005 requires proof that the driving occur on a public highway, but RCW 46.20.342(1) does not have this requirement. The district court disagreed and ruled that proof of a violation of RCW 46.20.342 did not proof a violation of RCW 46.20.005; therefore, the jury instructions did not include an element that the driving occurred on a public highway, and there was no direct evidence that

Brief of Respondent Case No. 46149-8-II

Hancock drove on a public highway. The only direct evidence was that she drove on the gas station convenience store lot.

The jury convicted, and Hancock appealed to the Mason County Superior Court. The superior court affirmed the district court. Hancock sought discretionary review to this Court. This Court accepted discretionary review.

In the superior court RALJ appeal, Hancock specified a number of issues for review. The State contends that each of these issues will be resolved by resolution of the one central issue: Does RCW 46.20.005 require that the element of driving on a public highway be included as an additional element of driving with a revoked license as defined by RCW 46.20.342(1)? Accordingly, rather than attempt to follow the format of Hancock's brief on appeal, the State will respond to Hancock's brief by addressing this one, central issue, which incorporates each of the issues expressed by Hancock.

B. <u>STATE'S RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES PERTAINING TO</u> APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Does RCW 46.20.005 require that the element of driving on a public highway be included as an additional element of driving with a revoked license as defined by RCW 46.20.342(1)?

Brief of Respondent Case No. 46149-8-II

C. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Review of the district court's decision on appeal, in this Court and in the superior court, is governed by the standards contained in RALJ 9.1. State v. Ford, 110 Wn.2d 827, 829, 755 P.2d 806 (1988). On review of a RALJ appeal from a superior court, this Court reviews the record before the district court, reviewing factual issues for substantial evidence and legal issues de novo. City of Bellevue v. Jacke, 96 Wn. App. 209, 211, 978 P.2d 1116 (1999).

A court acting in an appellate capacity may properly affirm a trial court judgment on any basis established by the pleadings and supported by the record, whether or not the trial court relied on that basis in reaching its decision. *In re Marriage of Rideout*, 150 Wn.2d 337, 358, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003) (quoting *Truck Ins. Exch. v. Vanport Homes, Inc.*, 147 Wn.2d 751, 766, 58 P.3d 276 (2002)); *Backlund v. Univ. of Wash.*, 137 Wn.2d 651, 670, 975 P.2d 950 (1999); *Amy v. Kmart of Wash. LLC*, 153 Wn. App. 846, 868, 223 P.3d 1247 (2009).

D. <u>FACTS</u>

On April 3, 2012, Deputy Gaynor of the Mason County Sheriff's Office saw the defendant, April Hancock, standing next to her car on

Brief of Respondent Case No. 46149-8-II

Highway 3 in Mason County. RP 11. Deputy Gaynor recognized her and remembered that she was a suspended driver; so, as he drove on he checked her driver's license status with his dispatcher and confirmed that Hancock's license was in fact suspended. *Id*.

Because the driver's check confirmed that Hancock's license was suspended, Deputy Gaynor turned around and attempted to locate Hancock. RP 11-12. When he returned, he saw that Hancock's car was then in the gas station lot of the Deer Creek Store. RP 12. As Deputy Gaynor watched, Hancock's car backed up to the gas pumps. RP 12. Deputy Gaynor pulled up to the back of Hancock's car and activated his overhead lights. RP 12. He then contacted the driver and identified her as April Hancock. RP 13.

Hancock's license was revoked in the first degree at the time of driving. RP 26. The State charged her with driving while revoked in the first degree. CP 84.

Prior to trial, Hancock filed a motion in the district court, asking that the court dismiss the case because there was no evidence that she drove a motor vehicle on a highway as opposed to a private lot. CP 187-90. The district court denied Hancock's motion, and entered written

Brief of Respondent Case No. 46149-8-II

findings of fact and conclusions of law. CP 176-77. The findings of fact were undisputed. *Id.*

After receiving the evidence, a district court jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged for the offense of driving with a revoked license in the first degree. CP 116.

E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Does RCW 46.20.005 require that the element of driving on a public highway be included as an additional element of driving with a revoked license as defined by RCW 46.20.342(1)?

RCW 46.20.005 was enacted in 1997 and first appeared in the Revised Code of Washington in 1998. The text of the statute has not changed since its enactment. The statute states as follows:

Except as expressly exempted by this chapter, it is a misdemeanor for a person to drive any motor vehicle upon a highway in this state without a valid driver's license issued to Washington residents under this chapter. This section does not apply if at the time of the stop the person is not in violation of RCW 46.20.342(1) or *46.20.420 and has in his or her possession an expired driver's license or other valid identifying documentation under RCW 46.20.035. A violation of this section is a lesser included offense within the offenses described in RCW 46.20.342(1) or *46.20.420.

Brief of Respondent Case No. 46149-8-II

RCW 46.20.005 (emphasis added). Because the statute includes the words "upon a highway in this state," it appears that one does not violate this provision unless he or she drives on a highway.

The current version of RCW 46.20.342(1) states, in relevant part, as follows:

It is unlawful for any person to drive a motor vehicle in this state while that person is in a suspended or revoked status or when his or her privilege to drive is suspended or revoked in this or any other state.

RCW 46.20.342(1). Thus, distinct from RCW 46.20.005, this statute does not require that driving occur on a highway; instead, by its plain language, RCW 46.20.342(1) applies to driving that occurs anywhere in the state, regardless whether the driving is on a highway or whether it is on any other place that is not a highway.

But Hancock contends that, because RCW 46.20.005 states by its terms that it is a lesser included offense to RCW 46.20.342(1), the requirement of RCW 46.20.005 that the driving must occur on a highway must by extension apply to RCW 46.20.342(1), even though .342(1) by its plain language applies to any driving that occurs anywhere in the state.

Brief of Respondent Case No. 46149-8-II

A diligent search of the Revised Code of Washington reveals that RCW 46.20.005 provides the only example of any current statute where the Washington Legislature has declared by statutory language that one offense is a lesser included offense to another offense. Traditionally, lesser included offenses are determined by judicial rule. For a historical reference to the judicial rule regarding lesser included offenses, see *Clarke v. Washington Territory*, 1 Wash. Terr. 68, 70 (1859). For a more recent discussion of the judicial rule regarding lesser included offenses, see *State v. Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d 58, 83, 292 P.3d 715 (2012).

The Court in the more recent case, Sublett, described the test to determine whether an offense is a lesser included offense, as follows:

We apply the Workman test to determine whether a defendant is entitled to an instruction on a lesser included offense. State v. Nguyen, 165 Wn.2d 428, 434-35, 197 P.3d 673 (2008) (citing State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 584 P.2d 382 (1978)). Under that test, two conditions must be met: first, each element of the lesser offense must be a necessary element of the offense charged. Second, the evidence must support an inference that the lesser crime was committed.

State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 83, 292 P.3d 715 (2012).

Applying the Workman test to the facts of the instant case, it is clear that RCW 46.20.005 is not a lesser included offense to RCW

Brief of Respondent Case No. 46149-8-II

46.20.342(1), at least not as far as the judicial rule is concerned, because the first prong of the test is not satisfied. A necessary element of the lesser offense, RCW 46.20.005, is that the driving occur on a highway. But this is not a necessary element of the greater offense, RCW 46.20.342(1), which does not require proof that the driving occurred on a highway. Thus, the first prong of the *Workman* test is not met on these facts.

Historically, however, RCW 46.20.342 did include as an element proof that the driving occurred on a highway, as follows: "Any person who drives a motor vehicle *on any public highway* of this state while that person is in a suspended or revoked status...." RCW 46.20.342(1) (1989) (emphasis added). When this former version of RCW 46.20.342 was current in 1989, the then-current version of RCW 46.20.021 read (in relevant part) as follows:

No person, except as expressly exempted by the this chapter, may drive any motor vehicle upon a highway in this state unless the person has a valid driver's license issued under the provisions of this chapter. A violation of this subsection is a misdemeanor and is a lesser included offense within the offenses described in RCW 46.20.342(1), 46.20.416, 46.20.420, and 46.65.090.

RCW 46.20.021(1) (1989). Notably, the historical version of RCW 46.20.021 was substantially identical in substance to the current version of

Brief of Respondent Case No. 46149-8-II

RCW 46.20.005. Also notable is that, because the former version of RCW 46.20.005. Also notable is that, because the former version of RCW 46.20.342 required proof that the driving occurred on a public highway, there was no conflict between the 1989 version of RCW 46.20.342 and the language contained in the 1989 version of RCW 46.20.021 (now found at RCW 46.20.005).

In 1990, however, RCW 46.20.342 was amended to delete the words "on any public highway of" and to insert in place of those words the word "in". Laws 1990, ch. 210, § 5(1). The amended version appeared in the 1991 version of the Revised Code as follows: "Any person who drives a motor vehicle *in this state* while that person is in a suspended or revoked status... is guilty of a gross misdemeanor...." RCW 46.20.342(1) (1991) (emphasis added). Thus, by this amendment the legislature indicated its intent to criminalize driving with a suspended or revoked license anywhere and everywhere in the state, no matter where it occurs, and irrespective of whether the driving occurred on a highway or whether it occurred on private property.

Brief of Respondent Case No. 46149-8-II

¹ Subsequent amendments to RCW 46.20.342(1) have altered the wording somewhat, but the substantive effect of the statute (relevant to the instant case) has not changed. The current version reads as follows: "It is unlawful for any person to drive a motor vehicle in

Meanwhile, there was no amendment to RCW 46.20.021 that altered or affected the language "upon a highway" until the statute was amended in 1997 to delete subsection (1) of the statute in its entirety. Laws 1997, ch. 66, § 3. At the same time that the legislature deleted subsection (1) of the then current version of RCW 46.20.021, however, it transferred the deleted language to a new statute, which was subsequently codified as RCW 46.20.005 (1998). Laws 1997, ch. 66, § 1. The original version of RCW 46.20.005 currently exists without amendment.

Despite the legislature's use of a judicial term of art, "lesser included offense," in regard to suspended driving, it is clear that according to the judicial test for lesser included offenses, RCW 46.20.005 is not a lesser included offense to RCW 46.20.342(1). *State v. Workman*, 90 Wn.2d 443, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). It follows that the definition of the term "lesser included offense" means something different to the legislature than what it means to the judiciary. The judiciary has more than one hundred years of case law that defines the meaning of the term of art "lesser included offense." The legislature's meaning in the current context is undefined.

this state while that person is in a suspended or revoked status...." RCW 46.20.342(1) (2013).

Brief of Respondent Case No. 46149-8-II

The rules of statutory construction lead to a conclusion that, notwithstanding the language of RCW 46.20.005, the legislature clearly intended to criminalize the act of driving with a revoked license everywhere in the state, irrespective of whether the driving occurred on a public highway, or on private property, or elsewhere. Herrett Trucking Co. v. Washington Public Service Commission, 58 Wn.2d 542, 364 P.2d 505 (1961) (earlier special statute must yield to latter general statute when there is manifest legislative intent that the latter statute should have effect or where the two statutes cannot otherwise be reconciled and given effect).

F. CONCLUSION

RCW 46.20.005 has an element that requires proof of driving on a public highway. RCW 46.20.342(1) does not require proof of driving on a public highway. Yet, RCW 46.20.005 states in statutory language that it is a lesser included offense to RCW 46.20.342(1). Hancock, therefore, contends that in order to prove a violation of RCW 46.20.342(1), the State is also required to prove each of the elements of RCW 46.20.005, to include the element that the driving occur on a public highway.

Brief of Respondent Case No. 46149-8-II

Each of Hancock's assignments of error may be decided by resolving the one, core issue of whether RCW 46.20.005 creates a requirement as a matter of law that proof of a violation of RCW 46.20.342(1) must also include proof of each of the elements contained in RCW 46.20.005. If so, then error occurred in the instant case, because the jury was not instructed that driving on a public highway must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt in order to return a guilty verdict for the offense of driving on a revoked license in the first degree in violation of RCW 46.20.342(1). If not, however, then no error occurred here, and the evidence is sufficient to sustain the jury's verdict.

For the reasons argued above, the State contends that proof of the elements of RCW 46.20.005 is not required in order to prove a violation of RCW 46.20.342(1) and that, therefore, no error occurred here, and the district court ruling and the jury's verdict should be sustained.